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Sechelt’s early history: an overview

GARY LITTLE

Contributing Writer

June 30 is the 30th anniversary of incor-
poration of the District Municipality of
Sechelt. Although the “land between two
waters” was first frequented by Europeans
150 years ago in the 1860s, it was not until
1956 that the Village of Sechelt was created
and a local government was elected. Thirty
years later, in 1986, the Village evolved into
a District Municipality when its boundar-
ies were extended to encompass eight
surrounding communities: Wilson Creek,
Davis Bay, Selma Park, East Porpoise Bay,
Sandy Hook, Tuwanek, West Porpoise Bay,
and West Sechelt. The municipal boundar-
ies have remained the same ever since.

In honour of this occasion, it seems
appropriate to turn back the clock and
review the early history of the Sechelt
community.

Prior to 1860, not much was known
by Europeans about the area we now call
the Sunshine Coast. Spanish and British
explorers passed through here in 1791
and 1792 and prepared the first maritime
charts, but their visits were brief and
their descriptions of the area were terse
and uninteresting. George Vancouver, for
example, complained frequently about the
bad weather, although he also raved about
the “forest trees in great abundance.”

The next notable visitors arrived in 1860
to prepare more detailed charts of the area
in support of safer coastal navigation in
the new colony of British Columbia. They
included Capt. George Henry Richards and
his crew aboard the surveying ship HMS
Plumper. They were the first to survey the
body of water now known as Sechelt Inlet,
including Narrows Inlet and Salmon Inlet,
bodies of water that Vancouver had over-
looked in 1792.

The 1860s also brought the first Catholic
missionaries eager to convert the native
population. It was these missionaries who
insisted - to make religious training more
convenient — that the widely dispersed
native communities in Jervis Inlet and
Sechelt Inlet relocate to the Sechelt area
for most of the year. Interaction with the
white man was not kind to the Sechelt
bands and a smallpox epidemic ravaged
them in 1862. By 1876 there were only 167
surviving native residents in Sechelt.

The first private landowner in Sechelt
was a retired military man, John Scales. He
had come to B.C. in 1859 to work on public
works projects (roads, bridges, buildings,
etc.) as part of Colonel Moody’s corps
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of Royal Engineers. When the corps was
disbanded, he did not return to England
and so became entitled to a 150-acre mili-
tary land grant offered by the colonial
government. On May 25, 1869 he formally
requested from Chief Commissioner of
Land & Works Joseph Trutch all the land
from Porpoise Bay to Trail Bay between
what are now Shorncliffe and Wharf ave-
nues (District Lots 303 and 304) - in other
words, the entire village area of present-
day Sechelt.

The land Scales had requested turned
out to be larger than the 150-acre limit
of his military land grant, but he was
allowed to preempt the remaining 110
acres (District Lot 304 fronting on Porpoise
Bay) when it was surveyed in 1875; he later
acquired District Lot 304 for $110 when he
received his Crown Grant in 1891.

It is unclear what first attracted Scales
to the Sechelt area. He never did live on
the property. However, he had business
connections to Burrard Inlet sawmills, sug-
gesting that he may have acquired the

ORIGINAL PHOTO BY HELEN DAWE (COLOURIZED COPY COURTESY OF SUNSHINE COAST MUSEUM AND ARCHIVES)
The tea room/dance pavilion, totem poles, and general store on the Sechelt waterfront in the 1930s. The general store was torn down
in 1965-66. The tea room was built by Bert Whitaker in the early 1920s; the three totems were erected in 1928. These buildings were

located at the site of the present-day Royal Terraces and Beach House condominiums.

property for investment purposes. In fact,
Gilbert M. Sproat, a Joint Commissioner
of the Indian Reserve Commission, wrote
in 1876: “It has been proposed to make
a canal through this neck of land for
the purpose of enabling saw logs to be
brought from Jervis Inlet to the sawmills
at Burrards’ Inlet without running the risk
of towing them 30 or 40 miles in the open
Gulf. The proprietors of one of these saw-
mills have purchased from a former white
settler, or holder of a military grant, the
best piece of the neck, extending across
from Gulf to Inlet.” Despite Sproat’s state-
ment, it does not appear that Scales ever
sold his land to a sawmill. Shortly after
receiving his Crown Grant in 1891, Scales
sold the property to Hugh Nelson, the
Lieutenant-Governor of British Columbia.
Scales spent the latter part of his life in
Nanaimo and died there in 1906.

The first permanent white settlers
in Sechelt were Thomas John Cook, his
wife Sarah, and infant daughter Ada who
arrived on April 5, 1894. In 1891, Cook
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had preempted District Lot 1331, to the
immediate west of the Scales land, named
it Shorncliffe after an area in Kent, England
where Cook had grown up, and this is
where he set up the family homestead.

Cook received his Crown Grant on Jan.
17, 1895 and afterwards worked for many
years as a steward on Canadian Pacific’s
Empress of India. His granddaughter, Helen
Dawe, would later become an avid amateur
historian and be responsible for preserv-
ing many important records document-
ing the early history of Sechelt and the
Sunshine Coast.

On the heels of the Cook family in 1894
came the influential Alfred and Henrietta
Whitaker family, which included five sons
and three daughters. Alfred and his eldest
son Herbert, known as Bert, had earlier
preempted the 320 acres of District Lot 1473
on the west side of Porpoise Bay (where
The Shores subdivision is located today)
shortly after arriving from England in 1892.

See SECHELT page 16
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An aerial view of Sechelt, 1968.

Of all the buildings that Whitaker erected in
Sechelt, only two cottages on Trail Bay remain,

Bert Whitaker died in 1925 in Vancouver
at the age of 50. His commercial property in

Sechelt was subsequently snapped up by the
Union Steamship Company who managed it
until the 1950s in conjunction with the nearby
Selma Park resort it had acquired in 1917 from
the All Red Line.

however, all of present-day Sechelt owes a little

to Whitaker’s visionary leadership and entre-
preneurial spirit in the first quarter of the 20th

Rock Cottage and Green Cottage. In some sense,
century.

His pace of development was frenetic. On

Bert turned out to be a ball of entrepre-
neurial energy who, in the course of 30 years,
the Trail Bay waterfront alone, he built multiple

transformed Sechelt into the vibrant commer-
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began in earnest in 1895 when he acquired
District Lots 303 and 304 from the widow of
Hugh Nelson and immediately began to develop

this prime real estate.
1896). He even had a passenger steamship line

hotels and general stores over the years, sever-
al rental cabins, a wharf, a tea room, and a post
office (he was named postmaster on March 1,
for a brief time.

cial centre of the Sunshine Coast. His activities
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Call Haley Chevrolet Buick GMC at 604-885-5131, or visit us at 1633 Field Road, Sechelt. [License #10231]
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SO VISIT YOUR DEALER TODAY. ENDS JUNE 30™
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CHEVROLE
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ALL NEW VEHICLES COME WITH.
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